JESSIE JOSEPH TAFERO,	>
Appellant	
VS.	) ) CASE NO. 49,535
STATE OF FLORIDA,	) (ADE NO. 47,555
Appellee.	
	SEP 24 1973
	INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT CLERK SUPREME COURT

On Appeal From the Circuit Court of the 17th Judicial Circuit of Florida, In and For Broward County.

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida 319 Clematis Street West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (305) 837-2150

CRAIG S. BARNARD Chief Assistant Public Defender

JERRY L. SCHWARZ Assistant Public Defender

RICHARD B. GREENE Assistant Public Defender

JACK A. GOLDBERGER Assistant Public Defender

Counsel for Appellant

	TABLE OF (	CONTENTS	PAGE i-ii
F	AUTHORITI	ES CITED	iii-xi

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This cause arose in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court, Seventeenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, In and For Broward County; and is on direct appeal to this Court pursuant to Article V, Section (3)(b) (1), Florida Constitution. Appellant was the defendant below and will be referred to as he appears before this Court.

In the brief the symbol "R" followed by the volume number will be used to refer to the main transcript of record consisting of nine (9) volumes. The symbol "S" will designate the one volume supplemental transcript of record containing seventy-two (72) pages. The symbol "SR" followed by the volume number will denote the supplemental record which contains four (4) volumes.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 4, 1976 an indictment was filed charging Appellant, Sonia Jacobs and Walter Norman Rhodes, Jr. with two counts of first degree murder, one count of robbery and one count of robbery and one count of kidnapping(RI 1-3). Appellant appeared for arraignment on March 8, 1976 was adjudicated insolvent and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent Appellant(R I 4); the assistant public defender waived arraignment and the court entered pleas of not guilty on all counts(RI 4). However, since the assistant public defender had not consulted with Appellant about arraignment and Appellant did not fully understand the proceedings(SR IV 4-7); Appellant then expressly stood mute and the court entered not guilty pleas (SR IV 7).

Appellant was tried separately from the co-defendants. Trial by jury commenced, over objection(R I 56-57 ; R III 4-7), on May 10, 1976 and on May 17, 1976 after deliberating five hours the jury returned verdicts of guilty as to all four counts(R I 100; R II 150-153; S 37). Appellant was adjudicated guilty on all counts (R I 100; R II 154-157; S 43-45).

The penalty phase of the trial was held the next day, May 18, 1976 (R II 158, S 45). The jury returned an advisory sentence of death as to counts I and II(R II 159, 167-167A, S 61). The trial court then sentenced Appellant to consecutive sentences of death for counts I and II and to concurrent sentences of life imprisonment for counts III and IV(R II 160, 168-171, S 64-66). On May 20, 1976, the trial judge filed his written sentence and findings of fact relating to the death sentence(R II 172-176).

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The eyewitness testimony consisted of two truck drivers who were

-1-

present at the I-95 rest area at the time of the incident. The first witness was Pierce M. Hyman, a driver for Pilot Frightways(R III 14). Mr. Hyman was parked approximately 150 feet directly behind the vehicles which were facing north(R III 18-19). From his truck, Mr. Hyman saw the trooper bent over in the open door of the Camaro(R III 21). Behind the trooper he saw a man wearing a T-shirt(the Canadian constable) (R III 22-23). A man(Walter Rhodes) was standing in front of the Camaro (R III 23-24). The trooper then went around the front of his car and used the radio(R III 24-25). The trooper then returned to the Camaro (R III 25).

There was a man sitting in the driver's seat of the Camaro who had a goatee, wearing a brown jacket(Appellant) who had gotten out of the Camaro before the trooper returned(T III 25-26). The man in the brown jacket(Appellant)<sup>\*</sup> walked over to the grass "like he was stretching." The man then walked back between the cars and leaned on the front fender of the Camaro(R III 27). The trooper then grabbed the shoulder of Appellant, pulled Appellant's arm behind his back and pushed him to the hood of the patrol car(R III 29). The "fellow in the T-shirt" pushed Appellant further over the hood of the car, holding Appellant's arm behind his back(R III 29) and pointed it back and forth between Rhodes and Appellant who was still being held over the hood with his arm "up around his back"(R III 30).

The trooper then turned to his right toward the Camaro. One shot was fired and he turned to the left toward his car away from the Camaro (R III 31). Then "there were several shots fired in rapid succession" (R III 31). While the shots were fired, Rhodes remained

-2-

<sup>\*</sup>Mr. Hyman testified that he thought he could identify the man in the brown jacket but in response to the prosecutor's question, he stated he could not see the man in the courtroom(R III 27-28). However, as will be discussed later, the subsequent testimony indicates that the man in the brown jacket was Appellant.

in the front of the Camaro with his hands up and Appellant began scuffling with the Canadian who was holding Appellant over the hood of the trooper car(R III 32-33). Mr. Hyman said the shots "appeared" to come from "out of the back of the Camaro"(R III 33). Rhodes then got in the driver's seat of the patrol car(R III 33). Appellant opened the passenger door of the trooper's car and reached toward the Camaro and there was a baby handed out. A male and a female got out of the Camaro and got into the back seat of the trooper's car(R III 34). The trooper car then pulled out. He never saw Appellant bend over the trooper and get his gun(R III 57).

The second eyewitness was Robert McKenzie, a tractor-trailer driver for Food Fair/Pantry Pride(R III 59). When he pulled into the rest area at 7:10 A.M. the trooper was between the cars talking to a man with a beard and a brown jacket(Appellant)(R III 62-63). A man in a T-shirt was standing next to the trooper(R III 64). Rhodes was standing in front of the Camaro(T III 65). Appellant pointed to the bushes and went over to the tree( "I guess he had to go to the bathroom" (R III 69). Appellant came back between the cars and began talking with the trooper again. Appellant sat down in the Camaro and then stood up and had a suitcase that he placed on top of the car(R III 71-72). The trooper "snatched the suitcase" and threw it into the back seat of his car(R III 72-73).

Mr. McKenzie then began pulling out of the rest area because he wanted to know who was in the Camaro(R III 73-74). In the car he saw someone with long hair and a blue shirt(Sonia Jacobs)(R III 74). He watched through his rearview mirror and saw the trooper begin to search Appellant. Appellant jumped back and they began to swing at each other -the trooper swung first(R III 75). The trooper got Appellant's arm behind his back and pushed him over the car. The "guy with the white shirt" took over holding Appellant(R III 76). The trooper pulled his

-3--

1

gun and pointed at both Appellant and Rhodes(R III 76-77). Appellant was still being held by the Canadian over the trooper car with his hands behind his back(R III 76-77). The trooper used his radio and then returned to the rear of his car and swung at Rhodes(R III 79,92). The trooper turned and pointed his gun at Appellant and the Canadian who was holding him(R III 80).

Mr. McKenzie came as close as 50 feet from the cars(R III 84,91). He then heard some "fast shots." The trooper fell instantly and "the other guy"(the Canadian) fell right behind him. Rhodes ran between the cars to the door of the trooper car(R III 81). When the shots were fired Rhodes had his hands up(R III 81) and Appellant was being held with his hands behind his back by the Canadian(R III 81,94). Appellant turned around after the shots were fired(R III 81, 95). The Canadian had ahold of Appellant, pushing him against the trooper car, with Appellant's left arm behind his back(R III 94). Appellant turned after the shots had been fired(R III 95).

The only other witness to testify regarding the events at the scene of the alleged homicides was the co-defendant, Walter Norman Rhodes, Jr. Mr.Rhodes had entered pleas to substantially reduce charges in return for his testimony against Appellant and Sonia Jacobs Linder(R III 12). Rhodes testified that Appellant called him a week before the alleged incident and asked Rhodes to meet him(R IV 241). Appellant asked Rhodes to give him, his wife, and two children a ride and asked if they could stay at Rhodes' apartment in Fort Lauderdale(R IV 241-242). According to Rhodes, for the next several days he and Appellant drove around Miami to various places "selling dope, and what have you" (R IV 248). They eventually exchanged a rental car for a Camaro owned by Steve Addis(R IV 256-258). Rhodes stated that on February 19, 1976 they went to Miami but whoever they went to see was not home, so at Rhodes' suggestion, they went to the rest area on I-95, arriving at 2:00 A.M.(R IV 265-267). They slept in the Camaro.

-4-

Rhodes testified that he woke up when the trooper was looking through the window, "mumbling something" and opening the door(R IV 267-268). When he opened the door, the trooper immediately bent down and picked up the nine millimeter pistol that Rhodes had been wearing (R IV 269-270). The trooper placed the gun on the front seat of his vehicle(R IV 272).

According to Rhodes, he noticed Appellant pass a nine millimeter pistol between the bucket seats "to the rear, toward Sonia" (R IV 274). The trooper called Rhodes over to his car and asked who his probation officer was(R IV 275). The trooper then told Rhodes to stand in front of the trooper's car(R IV 276). The man in plain clothes with the trooper was standing near the left rear window of the Camaro(R IV 272, 277, 280). According to Rhodes the man stood by the Camaro "the whole time" (R IV 277).

According to Rhodes the trooper then "violently" told everybody to get out of the car and "bring all of your weapons"(R IV 280). Rhodes testified that when Appellant got out he and the trooper began scuffling and the trooper was trying to get Appellant against the trooper's car (R IV 281-282). One of the Appellant's hands was on the top of the trooper's car and the other hand was being held behind his back(R IV 282). Then "Irwin[the Canadian] must have grabbed him because [Appellant] was still up against the car"(R IV 283). The trooper pulled out his gun(R IV 283).

The trooper then used his radio from the passenger side of his car (R IV 284). Rhodes testified that he saw Appellant and the trooper scuffling(R IV 285). He said he did not notice Irwin(the Canadian) during the struggle(R IV 285). The testimony of Rhodes was that the fight moved out between the cars and Appellant had both his hands on the trooper's right arm which held the gun(R IV 285).

Rhodes stated that he then heard two shots and "the second one was

-5-

a distinctly loud boom, not like the nine millimeter ... "(R IV 286). Rhodes testified that he turned around and saw the trooper who was "frozen" with his gun in his right hand which was "hanging down" (R IV 286). He said Ms. Linder looked scared and had a nine millimeter pistol in her hand(R IV 286). According to Rhodes Appellant went to the Camaro and took the gun out of her hand; he leaned back against the driver's seat and fired up at an angle. Rhodes said Appellant fired four shots at the trooper(R IV 287) and then fired two shots at Irwin. Rhodes got in the driver's seat of the trooper car(R IV 289). According to Rhodes, Appellant picked up the trooper's gun and picked up shell casings from the pavement(R IV 290-291). Ms. Linder was getting out of the Camaro and into the trooper's car(R IV 291).

Rhodes said that there had been no discussion of or intent to take the trooper's car or gun at the time they pulled into the rest area, when they were in rest area, or during the shooting(R IV 301-203). They never talked about or planned to take the gun or car. Rhodes had lost count of the number of felony convictions he had, but he had been on the wrong side of the law most of his juvenile and adult life (R IV 310).

Dr. Abdullah Fattah performed the autopsies(R III 192). The trooper(Phillip Black) had four gunshot entrance wounds(R III 194) and the cause of death was gunshot wounds of the head and neck(R III 195). Mr. Irwin received two gunshot wounds(R IV 204).

The crime scene processor, Detective Harold Hoke, testified that when he arrived, the door of the Camaro was closed. The driver's window had been shattered and there was glass inside the car and on the ground outside(R III 141). He found one shell casing outside the car located two feet in front of the right front tire(R III 148,179) and two inside the Camaro. William Munroe testified regarding atomic absorption tests. Mr.

Munroe's conclusion regarding the swabs taken from Appellant was that

--6--

the results of the tests were "consistent with subject having handled an unclean or recently discharged weapon" (R V 545). Sonia Linder's test results were consistent with having handled an unclean or recently discharged weapon (R V 546).

Rhodes' test results revealed that "the concentrates and distribution patterns of the metals" were consistent with Rhodes "having discharged a weapon" (R V 546).

Mr. Munroe testified that if Rhodes had been wounded by a lead pellet in the back of the hand, his conclusion might be altered(R V 547-548). The remaining residue, he said, would be indicative of having handled an unclean or recently discharged weapon(R V 548). If Ms. Linder had washed her hands, the results could be affected(R V 550). Regarding Appellant, he testified that if his hands were forced open in order to take the swabs, that "might" affect the results of his tests (R V 551). However, a person could not rub off one metal without also removing others(R V 557). Paul Weber stated that they had to force Appellant's hands open in order to take the swabs(T V 508) and that he saw Ms. Linder put her hands in the toilet before the swabs were taken (R V 509).

Joseph Marhan processed the trooper vehicle(T IV 359). He removed a fishook-type barb from the weather strip of the right rear window (R IV 360-361) and found a copper fragment in the space between the windshield and left side of the hood(R IV 371). The right windshield trim of the vehicle had a hole in it(R IV 373).

In general the allegations regarding the kidnapping charge were that after Rhodes, Ms. Linder, the children and Appellant drove away in the trooper's vehicle, they left I-95 and stopped at a condominium complex and switched cars by requiring a man to accompany them in his Cadillac (R IV 293). According to Rhodes, he grabbed a gun, went over to the man, told him they wanted to "borrow" his car, pointed the gun and the

-7-

man handed the keys to Rhodes(R IV 294). Rhodes then "took off for the Cadillac"(R IV 294). According to Rhodes, Appellant, Ms. Linder and the kids were then coming and "grabbed the old man" and told him they had to get the baby to the hospital(R IV 295). Rhodes got in the driver's seat and they drove west, then north and then east where they saw a roadblock (R IV 296-297). Rhodes tried to go around the roadblock but shots were fired and he was wounded in the leg and hand(R IV 297-299).

The alleged victim, Leonard Levinson, lived at Century Village in Deerfield(R V 403). He said a man got out of the passenger door, he had a weapon, and told him he had a sick child and wanted to use his car(R V 408-409). The man with the gun got in the backseat with Mr. Levinson said the woman had a briefcase which she handed to Appellant who put it on the floor(R 410-411).

They were then caught in a "traffic jam"(R V 421), they swerved and the car stopped and then were surrounded by the police(R V 422).

Gary Green, the Palm Beach Sheriff's Office crime scene investigator processed the Cadillac(R V 578-579). Mr. Green also searched the attache case where he found two handguns(R V 583-586), a holster (R V 590), and an electronic Taser weapon(R V 587-588). In a purse, he found an unloaded weapon and a bag with seeds(R V 587).

Over defense objections, Heikki Ruttanen, Appellant's parole officer, was allowed to testify(R IV 350-353) that Appellant was paroled in June of 1973 and the last time he saw him was January, 1974(R IV 356-357). He stated that a parole warrant had been issued but had never been served and he did not know if Appellant was aware of the issuance of the warrant(R IV 358).

Near the end of the evidence, the prosecutor informed the court that he had a new witness, a federal prisoner in the "witness-marshal program" who had been given a new identity so "we don't know where he lives, or anything about him" (R VI 635). The Court allowed defense counsel to

-8-

speak with the witness for thirty minutes(R VI 637). Appellant objected to the testimony as going to the character of the Appellant(R VI 638), and requested further time to investigate the substance of the testimony, especially to locate other persons mentioned by the witness(R VI 638). Further, Appellant had a witness which he would need time to locate, who would testify that Appellant was not with the witness at that time (R VI 638-639). The trial court overruled the objection and allowed the witness to testify(R VI 640).

The witness, Ellis Marlowe Haskew, testified that Appellant(R VI 641) was at his apartment in North Miami, at 1:30 A.M. New Years of 1976 (R VI 641-642) and that Appellant mentioned that he had no intention of returning to prison(R VI 642). Appellant later renewed his request for adjournment to locate the persons referred to by Haskew(R VIII 359).

# ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

APPELLANT WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL BY THE INHERENTLY PREJUDICIAL ATMOSPHERE SURROUNDING THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW AND BY THE REFUSAL OF THE TRIAL JUDGE TO IMPLEMENT PREVENTATIVE OR REMEDIAL ACTIONS.

There are essentially two aspects of the facts which impact on Appellant's fair trial right. The first aspect concerns those factors which vividly indicate the community prejudice against Appellant. The second aspect includes those incidents that reached directly into Appellant's trial and were prejudicial to Appellant.

The legal principles involved are first that the atmosphere was "inherently prejudicial" requiring a new trial and secondly that the trial judge faced with this charged atmosphere, failed to properly exercise his discretion by refusing to employ the requested preventative and/or curative remedies.

# I. The Pervasive Setting

Appellant's trial was undertaken in an explosive atmosphere. The circumstances first came to light at his first appearance hearing

-9-

when Appellant stated that he had been beaten and denied any opportunity to try to contact a lawyer<sup>1</sup> since his arrest(about 24 hours)(SR II 2-3). By the time of his next first appearance hearing on March 5, 1976, Appellant's treatment in the jail resulted in his express request for medical attention(SR III 3) Appellant also renewed his request to make telephone calls and the court granted his request(SR III 3).

The severe nature of his treatment in the jail caused him to file a motion for protective order(RI 10-11) and a motion for medical services. The trial judge personally went to the jail and ordered that Appellant be taken to an oral surgeon(SR IV 9) and an optamologist(SR IV 10,19). The trial judge sternly warned the sheriff that he expected Appellant to be protected from such unprovoked attacks by the officers and that he did not expect anymore problems from "that type of action"(SR IV 19-20).

Appellant testified regarding the ordeal he had been put through. On his first evening in the jail two officers came to his cell, opened the door, and told him to come out; Appellant responded that he did not wish to talk with anyone(SR IV 13-14). The officers dragged him from his cell, threw him against the wall, and stripped him naked(SR IV 14) and then alternated taking pictures of each other with their hands around Appellant's throat and then "just beat me up"(SR IV 14). Appellant displayed fingerprints to the court that were still left in his neck from that night six weeks earlier(SR IV 14). Appellant was also struck by an officer with a flashlight while he was asleep(SR IV 15) and slashed in the face by an officer with an aerial torn from a television, requiring immediate medical attention and leaving a scar (SR IV 15-16). Appellant was constantly being harrassed by the police who told him he was going to die, and taunted him with "Zzzz", referring to the electric chair(SR IV 16).

<sup>1</sup>Appellant requested a lawyer immediately after his arrest. See <u>e.g</u>. (SR I 8)

-10-

The actions of the officers indicate the widespread and deeply held attitudes against Appellant. A trial conducted in a mob-dominated atmosphere denies due process of law.<sup>2</sup>

We recognize that the officers' and jailers' actions do not alone demonstrate the unfairness of Appellant's trial; however, such a "lynchmob" psychology by the police reflected the overall attitude of the community and as will be seen that attitude was not allowed to abate. II. Appellant Attempted Preventative Measures

The setting that faced Appellant for his trial was prejudicial wherein his guilt and death sentence were presumed. The pretrial incidents at the very least should have awakened the trial judge to the danger and caused him to seek protective actions. This did not happen, the atmosphere did not abate during trial but in fact the pressure became more intense.

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