IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FI	L	E	n
ОСТ	22	1979	
	M	j	1
CLERK S	JPRE	ME C	OURT

JESSIE JOSEPH TAFERO, Appellant,	CLERK
v.) CASE NO. 49,535
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
Appellee.	}

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Broward County, Florida

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

BENEDICT P. KUEHNE Assistant Attorney General Elisha Newton Dimick Building 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

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

The judge in this case permitted witness Haskew to testify only after a Richardson inquiry into the surrounding circumstances of the alleged noncompliance. Appellant's argument is not well-taken. The record before this Court demonstrates that the State's noncompliance was not willful, since the Prosecution disclosed the witness as soon as his identity was known. Pons v. State, 278 So. 2d 336 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976). The violation was trivial at most, since the witness did not testify as to any material element of the crime, but only as to a potential motive, and was somewhat cumulative to the testimony given by Heikki Riuttanen (RIV 349-358). The third factor, the effect on Appellant's ability to prepare for trial, is also minimal in that defense counsel had adequate opportunities to depose the witness and otherwise investigate his information. And, since Haskew's testimony did not go to the heart of the case, no paramount prejudice resulted.

This Court ruled similarly in <u>Cooper v. State</u>, 336
So. 2d 1133 (Fla. 1976), in holding that the trial court did not abuse his discretion in allowing an <u>unlisted</u> state ballistics expert to testify. In light of the circumstances of this case, there was no necessity for the judge to grant Appellant a continuance. It is axiomatic that a motion for continuance is addressed to the sound discretion of the lower court. <u>Cooper v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Raulerson v. State</u>, 102 So. 2d 281 (Fla. 1958); Tilghman v. State, 51 So. 2d 785 (Fla. 1951).

Of course, all testimony offered against an accused is prejudicial. The law relative to this question focuses on the prejudice emanating from the fact of a discovery violation.

The above-related facts clearly show that no unfair or improper prejudice resulted. Mobley v. State, 327 So. 2d 900 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976). Defense counsel was able to cross-examine and impeach this witness. The veracity of a five-time convicted felon (RVI 643) was for the jury to determine. This appellate issue is without merit.

POINT IV

NO EVIDENCE FAVORABLE TO THE ACCUSED WAS WITHHELD FROM APPELLANT.

Tafero claims error because of a failure on the State's part to provide him with evidence upon which impeachment of witness Haskew could be based. Appellee vigorously contests this claim. First, this matter has never been presented to the trial court for initial examination. Consequently, it cannot be a proper issue on direct appeal. North v. State, 65 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1952) (en banc). While the issue might be a proper matter for a postappeal writ of error coram nobis, see Hallman v. State, 371 So. 2d 482 (Fla. 1979), it cannot be considered now.

Should this Court decide to address this question, the single conclusion to be reached is that no reversible error is present. Appellant never made a specific request for any of the evidence that he now claims was suppressed. Thus, <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), is inapplicable to the case. A



specific request is one which gives the prosecutor notice of exactly what the defense desires. <u>United States v. Augurs</u>, 427 U.S. 97, 106 (1976). (Compare <u>Williams v. Dodd</u>, 400 F. 2d 797 (5th Cir. 1968) for examples of specific requests.)

In addition, applying <u>United States v. Augurs</u>, <u>supra</u>. to this case, the omission of any evidence as to attorneys fees did not deprive Appellant of a fair trial, since its disclosure to the jury would not serve to create a reasonable doubt as to guilt that did not otherwise exist. <u>Hallman v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Smith v. State</u>, 364 So. 2d 876 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978). Even the <u>United States v. Diecidue</u> decision upon which Appellant so heavily relies [(448 F. Supp. 1011 (M.D. Fla. 1978)] held that the very same omission under identical circumstances would not have affected that verdict. Accordingly, this point should be dismissed.

POINT V

COLLATERAL FACT EVIDENCE WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED AT TRIAL.

Appellant raises several instances wherein testimony of collateral offenses were admitted into evidence. He claims that, in every instance, the testimony had no probative value and was merely an impermissible assault on his character, which had not been put in issue. A review of the record demonstrates the relevance and admissibility of the testimony.

Specifically, the State was permitted to present evidence that Tafero was on parole and that a parole violation warrant had been issued (RIV 300, 349-353, 356-358) as well as Tafero's drug deals during the days immediately prior to the murders (RIV 248-249, 259). The Prosecution's single, limited purpose in producing this evidence was to demonstrate Appellant's possible motive for killing two law enforcement officers (RIV 233; RVIII 328).

The fact that Tafero was selling contraband while an outstanding warrant had been lodged against him, coupled with his desire not to return to prison, are valid pieces of evidence from which the conclusion can be reached that Appellant had a reason for killing any police officer who stood in his way. Indeed, the Camaro in which Tafero and his companions were sleeping contained various amounts of marijuana and other drugs, the possession of which is a criminal violation which could result in parole revocation. Chapter 893, Fla.Stat.; § 949.10 Fla.Stat.(1975).

Moreover, the jury knew that Tafero was not on trial for any act not charged (RII 147).

The law in this jurisdiction is well-settled that evidence of other crimes or bad acts is admissible if it casts light on the character of the act under investigation by showing either motive, intent, absence of mistake, common scheme, identity, or a system or pattern of criminality, such that the evidence of the other crimes would have a relevant or material bearing upon some essential aspect of the offense then being tried. Williams v. State, 110 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1959); Ashley v. State, 265 So. 2d 685 (Fla. 1972). The key test for determining admissibility of other crimes is relevancy, notwithstanding its prejudicial impact. Ashley, supra; Thomas v. State, 358 So. 2d 114 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978). Of course, testimony as to collateral offenses, although relevant, must be limited such that it does not become a feature of the trial. Wilson v. State, 330 So. 2d 457 (Fla. 1976); Smith v. State, 344 So. 2d 915 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977). Quite obviously, the testimony in question consisted of but a small portion of a more than 700 page trial transcript. Compare Wilson v. State, supra, with Green v. State, 228 So. 2d 397 (Fla. 2d DCA 1969).

The case of <u>Smith v. State</u>, 365 So. 2d 704 (Fla. 1978), recently decided by this Court, puts to rest any claim of error regarding the introduction of collateral evidence in this case. There, in a first-degree murder trial, the prosecution was permitted to adduce proof of a <u>second murder</u>, because of its relevance to illustrate the criminal context in which the first murder occurred. Similarly, in this case Tafero's earlier criminal

activity with Rhodes was relevant as to why the Camaro was at the rest area and why Appellant would have a reason for killing the policemen. Thus, the inclusion of this evidence is proper.

See, e.g., Jacobson v. State, ____ So. 2d ____, Case No. 78-312

(Fla., 3d DCA, October 9, 1979).

Appellant cites <u>Smith v. State</u>, 344 So. 2d 915 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977), for the proposition that a three-pronged test must be applied in considering the admissibility of collateral fact evidence. What <u>Smith</u> really indicated was that there were three factors to balance in determining at what point the State may have gone too far in its presentation of such matters. The first consideration, relevancy, has already been discussed. Appellant contends that motive was not relevant because the State was proceeding under a felony-murder theory. Yet, in Point II Appellant takes the position that the murders could not be founded on an underlying felony. Thus, Appellant's relevancy argument is incorrect. The jury was instructed on motive (RII 136) which was clearly in issue.

The second factor in <u>Smith</u> is necessity. In this case, the prosecution of this case compelled the introduction of motive testimony. Without a motive, why would Tafero kill two police officers. Moreover, Appellant's clear motive shed needed light on the State's theory that Tafero and Linder actually perpetrated the killing. Finally, the third consideration is whether the testimony in question directly related to any material issue in the case, or was it more inclined to demonstrate the bad character of the accused. As previously discussed, the collateral evidence was not a feature, but was approached as any

other relevant piece of testimony.

As to the testimony regarding Appellant's possession of the 9mm. automatics, the teflon-coated bullets, or the Taser, these were all directly related to the killing of Trooper Black and Constable Irwin. The KTW ammunition was fired into the victims by the 9mm. automatic in Tafero's possession; Tafero's prior possession of the projectiles and the weapon is certainly relevant to the issue of whether he participated in the shooting. The testimony as to the Taser was permissible since that weapon was shot at Officer Black's FHP vehicle by someone in the green Camaro. This point on appeal therefore has no merit.

POINT VI

APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED DUE PROCESS WHERE THE PROSECUTION WAS PERMITTED TO PROCEED ON DUAL THEORIES OF FELONY-MURDER AND PREMEDITATION.

Appellant argues that it was prejudicial to allow the State to proceed simultaneously on theories of felony-murder and premeditation. Although this issue has been settled by this Court in Knight v. State, 338 So. 2d 201 (Fla. 1976), Appellant attempts to distinguish that controlling precedent; such attempt is to no avail.

In <u>Knight</u>, this Court clearly and without hesitation announced that in a first-degree murder prosecution, the State is permitted to introduce evidence to prove its case under either felony-murder or premeditation. Appellant has presented no substantial grounds to warrant the announcement of a new rule. Tafero

was on notice as to the nature of the charge against him and the time and place of the crime. Through discovery, he was able to determine the precise facts that the State was going to introduce. No further specificity was required, especially in light of the fact that first-degree murder is fully proved by premeditation, felony-murder, or aider and abettor. Section 777.011, Fla.Stat. (1975); Hite v. State, 364 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978); Shockey v. State, 338 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976), cert. denied, 345 So. 2d 427 (Fla. 1977). Obviously Appellant knew how to prepare for trial. He made a thorough opening statement to the jury (RVIII 347), he cross-examined all the witnesses, and he argued strenously against the State's case during his final statement. The appellate allegation that Tafero was hindered in the preparation of his defense is untenable.

Another case decided by this Court, State v. Pinder,

___So. 2d ____, Case No. 55,369 (Fla., July 5, 1979), supports the

position taken by the State herein. There, the accused was

charged with premeditated murder, but the conviction was obtained

upon proof of felony-murder. The first-degree murder conviction

was upheld on that basis. Similarly, in this case, the allegation
and proof comported with notions of due process.

Nor does the procedure utilized in this case prejudically impact on the sentencing phase of Appellant's trial. The State's presentation at that time was extremely brief (S 47) and contained nothing unknown to Appellant. The fact that the defense made no presentation whatsoever (S 54) is indicative of the fact that he would not have presented mitigation evidence under any circumstances.

Furthermore, the State points out that the instant objection to the form of the indictment was never presented to the trial court by way of a motion to dismiss (RI 43-48) or at any other point during trial. His apparent failure to raise an objection to the charge precludes this belated claim of error.

Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1978); Clark v. State, 363 So. 2d 331 (Fla. 1978); Lewis v. State, 93 So. 2d 46 (Fla. 1956), appeal dismissed, cert. denied, 355 U.S. 16 (1957).

POINT VII

APPELLANT WAS NOT LIMITED IN HIS RIGHT TO PARTICIPATE IN HIS OWN DEFENSE.

Appellant argues that it was "apparent from the outset of these proceedings and should have been apparent to the trial judge that Appellant intended to actively participate in his own behalf" (Initial Brief at 34). Nothing, however, is "apparent" since Appellant at no time prior to trial requested that he be allowed to function as co-counsel in his own behalf.

Although Appellant correctly notes that he filed many pro se motions prior to trial, the record reflects that defense counsel actually filed all the defendant's pro se motions (RVIII 325). During a pre-trial colloquy, neither Appellant nor counsel advised the court of any outstanding motions that had not been ruled upon (RVIII 323-326). At no time was Appellant denied the right to participate in his own defense. Even though Appellant alleges that he was excluded from a pre-trial conference, the

record before this Court does not clearly support that assertion (RVIII 324-325) and Appellant never even objected to any exclusion, if such in fact occurred.

Contrary to Appellant's unsupported assertion, there is no constitutional authority for hybrid representation at trial.

Hooks v. State, 253 So. 2d 424 (Fla. 1971); Powell v. State,

206 So. 2d 47 (Fla. 4th DCA 1968); United States v. Daniels,

572 F.2d 535 (5th Cir. 1978); United States v. Bowdach, 561 F.2d

1160 (5th Cir. 1977); United States v. Bennett, 539 F.2d 45

(10th Cir. 1976); United States v. Shea, 508 F.2d 82 (5th Cir.

1975). See also Goode v. State, 365 So. 2d 381 (Fla. 1978).

Furthermore, Appellant never made a pre-trial request to act as co-counsel. Cf. Tait v. State, 362 So. 2d 292 (Fla. 4th DCA

1978). His failure to request permission well in advance of trial to act as co-counsel is fatal to his claim of error.

As to any limitation of Appellant's ability to prepare his defense, the State of Florida maintains that the trial judge did everything possible to see that the defense was prepared for trial. In addition to court-appointed counsel, an investigator was assigned to assist counsel in preparing the case (SRIV 12). The various motions filed by Appellant were ruled upon. Appellant, as a pre-trial detainee accused of first-degree murder and for whom counsel was appointed, cannot claim that he is entitled to the very same treatment as a free citizen. Indeed, incarceration necessarily includes certain restrictions on one's person. See Bell v. Wolfish, __U.S.__, 60 L.Ed. 2d 447, 99 S. Ct. 1861 (1979). Tafero certainly was not entitled to free and unfettered access to a law library. Wells v. State, 358 So. 2d 1113 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978). The other contentions must similarly be rejected.

Any trial preparation could have, and should have, been done by appointed counsel or the investigator. Appellant has never stated, either at trial or on appeal, that defense counsel failed in any respect or that he was dissatisfied with counsel's services.

In sum, Tafero had a fair trial and was not deprived in any manner of a constitutional right to participate in his own defense.

POINT VIII

THE TRIAL JUDGE WAS NOT REQUIRED TO RECUSE HIMSELF ON APPELLANT'S PRO SE MOTION.

Appellant, on his own behalf, filed an unsworn motion requesting that the presiding judge recuse himself from the trial of this case. The grounds for the motion were that Judge Futch had at one time been a highway patrolman, was on personal terms with "witnesses for the State," and had presided over co-defendant Rhodes' plea proceedings (RI 72-74). Judge Futch denied the recusal request for the reasons that the motion was untimely filed and insufficient as a matter of law (RVIII 325). That ruling was correct.

Rule 3.230, <u>Fla.R.Crim.P.</u>, provides the method of moving to disqualify a judge from a criminal case. That rule requires that the written motion for disqualification be filed at least ten days prior to trial and be accompanied by at least two affidavits setting forth the facts relied upon to show the grounds for disqualification. A motion that is untimely filed, <u>Skipper v. State</u>, 114 Fla. 312, 153 So. 853, <u>appeal dismissed</u>, 293 U.S. 517 (1934),

or contains insufficient supporting affidavits, State ex rel.

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